IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALVIN LEROY MORTON, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

Case No. SC95171

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital resentencing appeal taken from two death sentences imposed by the trial court following a new penalty phase proceeding ordered by this Court in <u>Morton v. State</u>, 689 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1997). [A 1-7] This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution.

References to the record on appeal are designated by a Roman numeral for the volume number followed by the page number. References to the supplemental record are designated by SR and the page number. References to the second supplemental record are designated by 2dSR and the page number. References to the Appendix to this brief are designated by A and the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 4, 1992, the Pasco County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, Alvin Morton, along with two codefendants, Robert Garner and Timothy Kane, for the first-degree premeditated murders of John Bowers and Madeline Weisser on January 26 or 27, 1992. [I 6] Morton was tried, convicted, and sentenced to death for each of the murders. [I 11-12] On appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions but vacated the death sentences and remanded for a new penalty phase proceeding before a new jury. [I 11-17; A 1-7]

A new penalty phase proceeding before a new jury was conducted on February 8-11, 1999. [I 107-14; II 1; VII 657] The jury recommended death by a vote of 11-1 for each murder. [I 131-132; VII 788] Counsel for both parties filed sentencing memoranda. [I 134-47] The court conducted a <u>Spencer¹</u> hearing on February 19, 1999. [SR 301-06] On March 1, 1999, the court sentenced Morton to death for both murders. [I 152-61; VII 792-809; A 8-17]

Appellant filed a notice of appeal on March 12, 1999. [I 181] The court appointed the public defender to represent Morton on this appeal. [I 185]

¹ <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 688, 690-91 (Fla. 1993).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The State's Case

Crime scene technician Jeff Boekeloo of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office responded to 6730 Sanderling Drive in Hudson at 6:45 a.m. on January 27, 1992. [III 209-10] There was a beige car parked in the front yard. The interior of the house was covered in black soot. [III 211] The bodies of a man and a woman were lying face down on the floor between the living and dining rooms. The man had a gunshot wound to the back of his neck, and the tip of his right pinkie finger had been cut off. The woman had a large gaping wound across the back of her neck. [III 212-213] Outside the house, the phone wires had been cut. [III 214] A black car was parked in the garage. [III 215] It appeared that fires had been started on the beds in both bedrooms. [III 216] No fingerprints were found inside the house because of the soot. A fingerprint on the outside of a sliding glass door had insufficient ridge detail for comparison. [III 217-18]

Pasco Fire Marshall William Brown determined that separate fires had been started by igniting clothes or paper with a match or lighter on the bed in each bedroom. [III 218-24]

Homicide detective Tim Powers received a tip that Alvin Morton was involved in the homicides. [III 224-26] Homicide detective William Lawless went to Morton's house around 6:30 a.m. on January 27, 1992. [III 226-27] Lawless spoke to Jeff Madden by telephone. Madden said Morton, Timothy Kane, Christopher Walker, and Bobby Garner came to his house around 11:00 p.m. the night before and

gave him a human finger wrapped in a bandanna. Morton said it was from a house on Sanderling Lane. [III 228-30] Lawless called Morton's phone. A male answered. Lawless said he was with the Sheriff's Department and asked him to step outside. The male hung up. Lawless called again, and another male answered. Lawless asked him to come outside. Garner, Walker, and Kane came out. They were arrested. Lawless subsequently identified the first voice as Alvin Morton's and the second as Bobby Garner's. [III 230-32]

Morton was arrested the next day, January 28, 1992. [III 232-The officers advised Morton of his Miranda² rights and tape 341 recorded their interview. Lawless summarized Morton's statements: Morton said they discussed "something similar to this" about a week before the crime. Morton targeted the victim's house because Walker and Garner had previously lived next door. On the night of the incident, they approached the house, and Kane cut the phone line with a large knife. Morton was carrying a shotgun. He kicked the front door open. Morton, Garner, and Kane went in. [III 234] They looked around for something to take. [III 234-35] A man came into the living room. They told him to get on the ground, and he complied. An older woman came out of the bedroom area. Garner told her to get on the ground. She did not comply until she saw Morton carrying the shotgun. Both asked them what they wanted. The man started to get up. Morton told him to get down. When the man did not comply, Morton put the shotgun to the back of his neck

² <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 467-79 (1966).

and shot him. The woman started to get up. Garner kicked her and stomped on her head. Morton put the knife in the back of her neck and told her to stay down. When she did not comply, he forced the knife into her neck until it hit bone. Garner then pressed down on the knife with all his weight and forced it through her neck. Garner cut off the man's pinkie finger. They left the house and went to Garner's house. [III 235] They wrapped the shotgun, knife, and other items in a towel and put them under Garner's mobile home. [III 235-36] Walker wrapped the finger in a They took the finger to Jeff Madden's house to show it bandanna. to him. After leaving Madden's house, Morton and Garner returned to the victims' house and set fire to items on the beds to destroy evidence. [III 236]

Lawless further testified that a 12 gauge shotgun with a sawed-off barrel was found wrapped in a blue towel under Garner's trailer. The magazine tube was damaged, so operating the slide after firing the gun did not feed another round to be fired. Instead, the gun usually jammed. [III 236-38] A Rambo knife and a pair of gloves were also wrapped in the towel. [III 238-39] Lee Sowell called to report the fire at the victims' house after hearing about it from Morton or Madden and going to the house to verify that there was smoke coming from it. [III 240-41]

Lawless authenticated a tape recording and transcript of Morton's statement. The jurors were provided copies of the transcript to read while the recording was played. [III T 241-45]

In the recorded statement, Morton's responses when asked what

they did at Garner's house and why they decided to "do this house" were inaudible. Morton said he, Garner, Walker, and Mike were outside the house, talking about nothing. [III 246] They decided to go inside. Kane cut the phone line with a knife with an 8 and 3/4 inch blade and a handle wrapped in rope. [III 247] Morton kicked in the front door. Morton, Kane, and Garner went inside, while Walker stayed outside. [III 248] Morton had the shotgun. Kane or Garner had the knife and laid it down on the chair later. They looked around for "[a]nything." [III 249]

Morton said a man came out. Morton told him to get on the ground, and he complied. [III 249-50] An old lady came out. Garner and Kane told her to get down, and she complied. The man and woman asked what the boys wanted, but they did not answer. [III 250] The man started to get up. Morton told him to get down. He did not, so Morton shot him in the back of the head where it joins with the neck. [III 250-51] The woman tried to get up. Garner kicked her in the ribs. She fell down. Garner kicked her a couple more times. She still tried to get up. Garner stomped on Morton stuck the knife into her neck until it hit the her head. bone. Garner pushed the knife down real hard, and it went right [III 251] Morton did not remember any other cutting. through. They searched the house for anything they wanted to take. Garner cut the pinkie finger off before they left. [III 252]

Morton said they went to Garner's house. Morton wrapped up the gun and knife and put them under the trailer. [III 252-53] Garner or Walker wrapped the finger in Walker's bandanna. Walker

took the finger when they went to Madden's house. They gave Madden the finger, "and he almost had a heart attack." Next, they rode their bikes to Morton's house. [III 253] Morton put his clothes and sneakers in the washer, along with Garner's shoes and "something else." [III 254]

When asked what was said in a conversation with the boys in Morton's bedroom about a week before the crime, Morton said he could not remember. [III 254] When asked about something Garner said, Morton replied that he was trying to cover his butt. When asked about the reason for cutting off the finger, Morton replied that Madden said he wanted somebody's pinkie, and he got one. Morton said he answered the phone when the officer first called. When asked if he immediately went up in the attic, Morton's answer was inaudible. [III 255] The officer said they "were going to gas the hell out of you." Morton said the other boys were too confused to see him leave. [III 256] The gas would go outside. Morton may have talked to his sister about this. Morton, Garner, and Walker talked about a lot of things in his room. When asked if anybody suggested "that house," Morton replied, "Not there." [III 257] Morton said Walker and Garner used to live right there next to [III 257-58] them.

Morton said they tried to light the house on fire while on the way back to his house. He used a lighter to set fire to the beds in both bedrooms. [III 258] They had decided on the house before they went out that night. They did not know if the people were home. One car was in the garage. They did not make any contin-

gency plans in case the people were home. A night light in the hallway was on. When asked why they ran after getting the man and woman on the ground, Morton said, "I don't know." [III 259] When asked what he was thinking, Morton said, "We wasn't. That's why we're in trouble." [III 259-60] When asked how long the people laid on the ground before he shot them, Morton said, "I have no idea. It was a long time." Morton said he already told the officer why he shot the man and why he stabbed the woman, and he was not going to change it. Morton said he would have shot the woman so it would have been less painful, but the shot would not go into the chamber. [III 260]

Morton agreed that Detective Lawless read his <u>Miranda</u> rights before the tape began and that he understood them. [III 260-61] Morton said they set the fire to destroy any evidence they may have left behind. They all wore gloves. [III 261] They did not wear anything to cover their faces. [III 261-62] Morton was unaware that the victims' next door neighbor saw them leaving. (The tape recording ended.) [III 262]

Lawless found no evidence that Morton was consuming drugs or alcohol at the time of the murders. Lawless determined that Mike Rodkey met up with the boys when they were roaming the street, but he did not participate in the crime. The police never found the pinkie finger. The bandanna was found in a canal where Walker threw it. About a week before the interview, Morton had a conversation in his room with Kane, Walker, Garner, his sister, and his sister's friend. [III 263] The court sustained defense

counsel's hearsay objection when Lawless began to say what they discussed. [III 263-64] Lawless determined that Morton owned the shotgun and the knife. [III 264]

Lawless disagreed with defense counsel's suggestion that the boys did not know what house they were going to. [III 265] According to Morton's statement, the boys did not know the people were going to be home, they went there to commit a burglary, and they were surprised when someone came out. Lawless could not say whether the murder was preplanned. [III 266] Walker told Lawless that he threw the finger into the canal. [III 267] Lawless interviewed Kane, Garner, and Walker. They giggled and laughed about it, while Morton was pretty somber. [III 267–68]

The court sustained defense counsel's objection when the prosecutor asked if Lawless talks "to other witnesses to see if what the defendant tells him jives with what the other witnesses say". [III 268] When the prosecutor asked if his investigation revealed why Morton, Garner, and Kane wanted to go into that home, the court sustained defense counsel's hearsay objection. [III 269-71] The court overruled defense counsel's beyond the scope objection and allowed the prosecutor to elicit Lawless's testimony that Walker said Morton gave him the finger he threw in the canal and that Garner wrapped it up in the bandanna. [III 271]

Wayne Whitcomb testified that he saw Morton in Jeff Madden's yard a couple of days prior to Super Bowl Sunday. Morton said something about going out and killing some people. [IV 289-90] Morton said he had a sawed-off shotgun. He said he would bring

back a finger or a head or something like that. [IV 290] Morton did not say who he was going to kill, and Whitcomb did not take him seriously. [IV 292] They were all teenagers. Morton was 19 and the oldest. Kane was 14 and the youngest. Garner was 18, and Walker was 16 or 17. [IV 293, 295]

Whitcomb testified that he and Jason Pacheco were at Madden's house on Sunday evening following the Super Bowl in January, 1992. Morton, Garner, Walker, and Kane came to Madden's [IV 279-81] house around 10:00 or 11:00 p.m. They told everyone to leave except Whitcomb and Pacheco. [IV 282] Morton had a red and white He told Madden, "[W]e got what you wanted." bandanna. Morton dropped a finger out of the bandanna and laid it on the bed. [IV 283-84] Morton said they went to a house, kicked in the door and went inside. An old man and an old woman came out. Morton told them to get down on the floor and they did. The man asked the boys not to hurt them and offered to give them all their money. Morton replied that the man would call the cops. The man said he would Morton said, "[T]hat's what you all say," then pulled the not. trigger of his sawed-off shotgun, which he held to the back of the man's head. [IV 285-87] Morton said he killed the woman. [IV 287] Morton said that they ran a knife up and down the woman's back "to see if they could hear noises like ta-ding, ta-ding, tading." [IV 290, 292] Morton was laughing and excited, like he thought it was funny. [IV 287, 291] Morton said Garner cut off the finger. [IV 294] They threw the finger in a canal. [IV 287]

The prosecutor read the prior testimony of Jeff Madden to the jury because he was unavailable to testify. [IV 295-325] Madden was 18 years old when he testified. [IV 295, 320] On Super Bowl Sunday, January 26, 1992, Madden had some friends at his house, including Pacheco and Whitcomb. Around 11:30 p.m., Morton, Garner, Walker, and Kane came to the house. [IV 296-98] Morton told Madden to make the other kids leave. Whitcomb, Pacheco, Morton Garner, Kane, and Walker remained. [IV 299] Morton pulled out a bandanna and said, "I brought you what you wanted to see." A human [IV 299-301] finger fell out of the bandanna. In a prior conversation Madden had asked Morton to bring him back a finger, [IV 317] but he was not serious.

According to Madden, Morton said, "You should have been there, it was so cool, I blew the bitch's brains out." [IV 301] All four boys, including Morton, were laughing. [IV 302] Morton said he kicked in the door. [IV 304] Walker ran away. [IV 311] Morton said he woke the people up. He got them to the floor and held a gun to the back of the man's head. The man asked why he was doing [IV 304] The man offered to have the lady sign a check. this. Morton said, "[Y]ou'll call the cops." The man said no. Morton said, "[T]hat's what they all say," and shot the man. [IV 305] Morton said he did it for the fun of it. [IV 305, 323] Morton said Garner cut off the finger. [IV 320] Morton made Walker pick up the finger. They wrapped it in the bandanna and took it with them when they left Madden's house. The bandanna belonged to Madden. [IV 306] Morton and Garner told Madden, Pacheco, and

Whitcomb that if they told anybody the same was going to happen to them. They were smiling, but Madden took them seriously. [IV 307]

Madden testified that Garner said he stabbed the old lady in the neck, he ran the knife up and down her spine, and he could hear the bones popping. [IV 308, 322-23] They were all giggling and laughing. Morton said, "You should have been there, it was cool, there was blood and brains everywhere." Madden did not see any blood on Morton. [IV 308] Kane said Morton had blood on his shoes. [IV 312] Morton did not appear to be under the influence of any drug or alcohol. [IV 311]

Madden testified that on Friday, before the Super Bowl, Morton told Walker and Garner, "[L]et's go kill somebody." [IV 312-13, 321] During that conversation, Morton said he had a sawed-off shotgun and said something about killing people across from Walker. [IV 317-320] Morton liked to "talk big." [IV 320-21] Madden denied that he told them to bring him back a head, and said he did not recall Morton offering to bring a finger instead. [IV 321-22]

After they left on Sunday, Madden called Lee Swole and told him Morton murdered some people. Swole came to Madden's house with Pacheco and Curt. [IV 309] Madden told them what Morton said. [IV 310] Morton called around 1:30 a.m. and told Madden about the brains and pools of blood he had to jump over. Morton said Walker lit the sheets on fire. [IV 310-11, 324] After Morton called, Madden, Swole, Pacheco, and Curt Butcher went looking for the house, but they did not find it. [IV 313-15] Walker used to live down the street on which Swole was driving. [IV 316] Madden

talked to the police the next day. He showed them a stain on the mattress where the finger had been. [IV 315]

Lee Swole testified that he received a call from Jeff Madden around 1:00 a.m. on January 27, 1992. Madden told him that Morton, Garner, and some other people killed somebody. [IV 325-26] Swole went to Madden's house with Pacheco and Butcher. Madden told him about his conversation with Morton. [IV 327] Madden called Morton, then let Swole talk to him. [IV 327-28] Morton said they went to the house, which had a white Ford out front and a Trans Am in the garage. [IV 329, 336] Garner kicked in the door. [IV 329, Morton hid behind the refrigerator, then the old man came 336] out. Morton grabbed him, put him down, then held the 12 gauge sawed-off shotgun to him. [IV 329] The old man begged for his life, offering to have the woman write a check, but Morton refused. The man said he would not call the cops. Morton said that's what they all say and shot him. [IV 330] Morton said when he cut the woman's throat he got blood on his shoes. [IV 330, 341-42] Morton said he or Garner ran the knife up and down her back, and they could hear her bones cracking. [IV 335, 337, 341] Morton joked about Garner cutting the lady's finger off. [IV 331, 337-38] He was laughing. Morton said Kane was scared, freaking out in the corner, and did not do anything. Morton said the only money he found was change, nickels and pennies. [IV 331] Morton said they went back to the house and set the bed on fire. [IV 334]

Swole, Pacheco, and Butcher found the house. The car was there, and the door had been kicked in. Swole went to a conve-

nience store and called 911. The police came. Swole told them what he knew. [IV 332] A couple of days before the Super Bowl, Swole had a conversation with Morton and Garner. When they started to leave, they said they were going looking for somebody to kill. Swole had seen Morton with knives, including Rambo knives, most of which belonged to Madden. [IV 333] Morton liked to brag and talked big. Swole did not take them seriously. [IV 338]

The prosecutor read the prior testimony of Victoria Fitch to the jury because she was unavailable. [IV 345-51] Fitch was 19 when she testified. [IV 346] In January, 1992, she was in a car with Morton and his sister Angela, when Morton said he wanted to kill someone within a week. [IV 347-48, 350] That did not happen. Morton liked to "talk big" or brag. She did not take him seriously. [IV 350-51] Fitch had seen Morton with a sawed-off shotgun and a knife displayed to her by the prosecutor. [IV 348-49]

Dr. Edward Corcoran, an associate medical examiner, observed the bodies at the scene and performed the autopsies. [IV 351-54] John Bowers was 55 years old, six feet one inch tall, and weighed 180 pounds. [IV 354] A shotgun wound to the back of his neck destroyed four vertebrae, severed the spinal cord and major blood vessels, and caused his death. [IV 355, 357-59] He died within a few seconds after he was shot. [IV 360] There was a 6 and 3/4 inch cut from the corner of his mouth across his chin to the upper neck, and two half inch cuts below the side of the right lower lip. [IV 354-56] Dr. Corcoran could not determine whether the cut to the chin and neck occurred before or after the gunshot. [IV 359,

369] Bowers had an internal bruise on the back of his head [IV 354] and a bruise on the inner surface of the left elbow that could have been caused by a kick. [IV 361] His pinkie finger had been cut off. [IV 362] He had no defensive wounds. [IV 369] The fires did not contribute to the deaths of Bowers or Mrs. Weisser. [IV 360-61, 367]

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