IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALVIN LEROY MORTON

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC95171

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739 (813) 326-1292 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

their house armed with this, if not intending to kill somebody?" (V-7, 713). Defense counsel did not dispute this assertion regarding extra ammunition in his own closing. That appellant carried extra ammunition was not a significant or apparently contested fact below.

As for any expression that the killings would produce a "rush," ample evidence supported a finding that appellant thought it would be cool or fun to kill his intended victims. Appellant's sister in a sworn statement stated that appellant "was bragging about what he was going to do." (V-5, 516). Victoria Fitch was in the car with appellant in January and heard appellant state "he was going-he wanted to kill someone." (V-4, 348). After the murders, appellant told Madden: "You should have been there, it was cool, there was blood and brains everywhere." (V-4, 308). And, after committing the murders, appellant told Madden he did it for the fun of it. (V-4, 323). When asked to recount appellant's demeanor when he was explaining the elderly victim's murder with a knife, Whitcomb testified: "He was excited, like it was funny." (V-4, 291). Thus, ample evidence suggested that appellant was excited about committing the murders. That the word "rush" did not specifically appear in the resentencing transcript is of no consequence.

As for evidence regarding bringing back a body part as a "trophy," evidence introduced during re-sentencing supported this

finding. Appellant told Jeff Madden before the murders that he would bring back either a "finger" or a "head" as a memento. (V-4, 290). Appellant did as promised, he and his cohorts brought back part of Mr. Weisser's finger to show their friends. (V-4, 284-285).

Appellant takes issue with the fact that the trial court's order mentioned that appellant and his cohorts "ransacked" the house looking for valuables. However, in closing argument, defense counsel conceded that the during the course of a burglary aggravator was established. (V-7, 750-751). In his taped confession appellant admitted that he and his cohorts looked around for "anything." (V-3, 249). Inclusion of the word "ransacking" in the trial court's order does not suggest the lower court failed to give appropriate, individualized attention to sentencing the appellant. Appellant and his cohorts clearly rummaged around the victims' house looking for valuables. Admittedly, it appears no evidence was introduced to suggest this search for valuables only ended when they heard a passing car, this "fact" is of no consequence. It was not used to support any aggravating factor.

Appellant and his counsel were given a copy of the order during the sentencing hearing and were present when the order was read in open court, but failed to object to any information contained in the trial court's order. (V-7, 809). Moreover, several significant differences between the orders exist which

support a finding that the trial court gave appropriate, individualized attention to appellant's sentence. For example, in addition to the differences noted in appellant's brief (Appellant's Brief at 40, n. 9), in finding the murders were committed in order to prevent or avoid lawful arrest, the trial court found that "as further evidence of Defendant's desire to avoid arrest for these murders he caused fires to be set in the victim's house in an effort to conceal the murders." (V-1, 154-155). A finding not made in the first sentencing proceeding by the Honorable Craig C. Villanti. Moreover, under the avoiding arrest aggravator for the murder of Madeline Weisser, the trial court also found as evidence to avoid arrest "he caused fires to be set in the victim's house in an effort to conceal the murders." (V-1, 157). Again, this was a fact not articulated in the first sentencing order.

Nonetheless, even if appellant can establish the trial court utilized the prior order as some type of guideline or template, he cannot establish any prejudice based upon this record. He fails to allege that relying upon the prior order had any impact on the finding and weighing of any aggravators or mitigators in this case. As noted above, each of the aggravators and mitigators found by the trial court has ample support in the evidence presented on resentencing. Thus, any error in this case was clearly harmless. Remand for a new sentencing order would only result in a waste of

time and valuable judicial resources.² <u>See generally Zack v.</u> <u>State</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S19, S22 (Fla. 2000)("If there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the sentence, the Court should affirm.")(citing <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129, 1138 (Fla. 1986)).

In <u>Huff v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 145, 151-152 (Fla. 1986) this Court held it was error for the trial court to take judicial notice of the record in the first trial after remand for a new trial. This Court observed that in addition to taking judicial notice of the record in the first trial, the trial court "essentially adopted the sentencing phase findings of the trial court in Huff I" and simply provided a supplemental finding of facts. 495 So.2d at 151. Although finding error, this Court determined that such error did not require reversal of the death sentences where reliance upon evidence in the first trial only resulted in a finding of the pecuniary gain aggravator and one mitigating factor. Striking each factor, given the remaining strong aggravators did not require reversal of the death sentences imposed in <u>Huff</u>. The evidence introduced in the second trial fully supported a finding that the murders were cold, calculated and premeditated and were heinous,

²While appellant suggests the appropriate remedy would be to conduct an entirely new sentencing proceeding, the error he complains about has nothing to do with the jury or the jury's recommendation. Consequently, assuming, error, the remedy is simply to have the trial court review the record and enter an order without relying upon or using the prior sentencing order. <u>See generally Davis v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 107, 108 (Fla. 1994).

atrocious or cruel. <u>Huff</u>, 495 So.2d at 153.

Sub judice the argument for finding such error harmless is even more compelling than in <u>Huff</u>. While in <u>Huff</u> reliance upon the prior trial record resulted in finding an additional aggravator, in this case, appellant can cite no aggravator which was improperly based solely upon the prior sentencing order. Indeed, overwhelming evidence introduced during re-sentencing supports finding each of the aggravators found by the trial court. And, it cannot be credibly argued that a single mitigating factor would be found or given additional weight but for the trial court's apparent reliance upon the prior sentencing order.

In conclusion, while appellant mentions facts recited in the sentencing order which he claims were not supported by the evidence, he failed to identify any **significant** facts which could have had an impact upon appellant's sentence. Appellant is not entitled to remand for another hearing before the trial court.³ <u>See generally State v. Rucker</u>, 613 So.2d 460, 462 (Fla. 1993)(remand for resentencing based upon failure to find convictions were not pardoned or set aside would amount to nothing

³Appellant's claim that the trial court's error is tantamount to a failure to provide contemporaneous written findings is without merit. The trial court did provide a contemporaneous written sentencing order. Moreover, remand for imposition of life with a minimum mandatory twenty five years would penalize the people of the State of Florida for an error their representative in this proceeding, the prosecutor, had no part in creating. In any case, as argued above, remand for entry of a new sentencing order is not required in this case.

more than "legal churning" where defendant did not allege that his prior convictions had in fact, been set aside.); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988)(A reversal of a sentence is warranted only if correction of the errors could reasonably result in a different sentence).

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S UNOBJECTED TO COMMENTS IN CLOSING ARGUMENT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant next complains that the prosecutor's comments in closing argument were so prejudicial that they constitute fundamental error. The State disagrees.

Appellant was represented by two experienced defense attorneys at the time of trial. They were in the best position to gauge the impact of the prosecutor's comments and the jurors' reaction to them. It speaks volumes about the strength of appellant's claim on appeal that none of the comments he now objects to on appeal were objected to by counsel below.

A. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

Of course, this Court has determined that failing to raise a contemporaneous objection to the prosecutor's comments waives any claim concerning the comments for appellate review. <u>McDonald v.</u> <u>State</u>, 743 So.2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999); <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 702 So.2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997). <u>See</u> Section 924.051 (1)(b), Fla. Stat.

(1996)("'Preserved' means that an issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court, and that the issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the relief sought and the grounds therefor."). Recognizing the procedural bar to his claim, appellant nonetheless asserts that the comments in this case may be reviewed for fundamental error.

Addressing the application of fundamental error, this Court has stated the following:

The Florida cases are extremely wary in permitting the fundamental error rule to be the 'open sesame' for consideration of alleged trial errors not properly preserved. Instances where the rule has been permitted by the appellate Courts to apply seem to be categorized into three classes of cases: (1) where an involved statute is alleged to be unconstitutional, (2) where the issue reaches down into the very legality of the trial itself to the extent that the verdict could not have been obtained without the assistance of the error alleged, and (3) where a serious question exists as to jurisdiction of the trial court.

<u>State v. Smith</u>, 240 So.2d 807, 810 (Fla. 1970)(quoting <u>Gibson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 194 So.2d 19 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967))(emphasis added). Further, this Court has stated that "for an error to be so fundamental "that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process." <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 616 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1993)(citing <u>D'Oleo-Valdez v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1988); <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981)). <u>See also Ashford v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 274 So. 2d 517, 518 (Fla. 1973)(observing that an "Appellate Court should exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very guardedly.") (citation omitted).

B. <u>The Prosecutor's Closing Argument Was Not Improper And Certainly</u> <u>Did Not Rise To The Level Of Fundamental Error</u>

Appellant employs a shotgun approach on appeal, laying down an array of comments in his brief in the hope that one or more will strike the target of "fundamental error." However, as long ago recognized by this Court, a prosecutor is the advocate for the State and "has the duty, not only to present evidence in support of the charge, but likewise the duty to advocate with all his talent, vigor and persuasion, the acceptance by the jury of such evidence." <u>Robles v. State</u>, 210 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1968). Moreover, this Court has observed that attorneys are allowed "wide latitude" in closing arguments. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 459 U.S. 882 (1982)(string cites omitted). "Logical inferences may be drawn and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments." <u>Id.</u> And, even if an isolated comment in this case was objectionable, no comment approaches the level of severity required to be considered fundamental error.⁴

⁴Appellate counsel repeatedly asserts that the prosecutor's argument was unethical in this case. (Appellant's Brief at 37, 53, 55, 58, 60). The State notes that few prosecutors have the time and luxury of a well thought out script to utilize during closing argument. Given the dynamics of a trial and closing argument in particular, mistakes and misstatements can and do occur. For that reason the jury is advised that their decision must rest on the evidence introduced during the proceeding and the law as instructed by the trial court. (V-7, 779, 780). None of the comments in this

Appellant first argues the prosecutor referred to facts that were not admitted into evidence from Angela Morton's prior sworn statement. (Appellant's Brief at 49-50). The problem with appellant's argument on appeal is that trial counsel did not object to the prior statement when it was used during cross-examination of Angela. The information was properly identified by the prosecutor in closing argument as having been elicited during crossexamination-i.e., "Recall the questions that I asked of her on cross-examination[]" (V-7, 712). Consequently, the prosecutor's argument was a fair comment upon testimony which was actually introduced during the penalty phase.

The sworn prior statement referred to by the prosecutor was made in January 1992 and recorded by a court reporter. Angela admitted her recollection of the facts was better in 1992 than when she testified on resentencing, some seven years later. (V-5, 515). Appellant told Angela the following: "He was going to break into a house that had a satellite and a swimming pool and steal stuff, and if the old people caused anything he would kill them, then he would burn down the house so there would be no evidence." (V-5, 517). After hearing her prior statement, Angela admitted the following: "I remember bits and pieces of that. Yes." (V-5, 517). Angela specifically recalled that appellant offered her a TV and a VCR if she participated. Angela, however, declined the offer. Id.

case even come close to the level of fundamental error, much less a breach of professional ethics.

Aside from being a comment based upon unobjected to testimony introduced during the sentencing proceeding, Angela's statement itself would have been admissible even if defense counsel had lodged a hearsay objection.⁵ In <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S89 (Fla. February 3, 2000), this Court took a step back from Morton with regard to admission of prior inconsistent statements in the penalty phase. In finding a prior inconsistent statement admissible as substantive evidence in the quilt phase, this Court observed: "...[U]nder section 921.141(1), hearsay evidence is admissible in the penalty phase so long as it is relevant and the defendant has the opportunity to rebut it." Rodriguez, 25 Fla.L.Weekly at S95. This Court noted that the defendant had an opportunity to rebut the witness's testimony "regarding why her pretrial statements differed from her trial testimony." This Court receded "from both Morton and Dudley to the extent they hold that a prior inconsistent statement cannot be used as substantive evidence in a penalty phase proceeding." Id. However, this Court observed that it still would have reversed Morton for a new penalty phase proceeding based upon the extent of the impeachment and the confusing manner in which this testimony was presented in the prosecutor's closing argument, finding the

⁵While appellant complains that the prosecutor never asked the lower court to admit the prior inconsistent statement into evidence, this was because appellant never raised an objection to Angela's prior statement. Had an objection been lodged, the prosecutor certainly could have asked that the statement be considered as substantive evidence during the penalty phase.

prejudicial nature of the statements far outweighed their probative value.

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